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Once again we have to record the sad news of the death of
a former Chairman of the Society and, this time, one still in
the prime of life. George Riley, Chairman from 1958-1961, was
one of the foundation members of the Society snd had always
Gaken a leading part in its activibties, especially in excavations.
He died suddenly on master ionday. The sympathy of all members
goes to lirs,Riley who we are glad to say, is continuing to take
part in the Society's activities.

—===000~——

Members may have noticed that the work of preserving the
medieval part of the Old Rectory is now in hand. This is being
supervised by the Ancient lMonuments Section of the Ministry of
Vjorks. The preservation of the 0ld Rectory is almost entirely
due to the efforts of this Society and is something for which we
are sure future generations of Loughburians will be grateful. We
hope to publish a full illustrated report on the 0ld Rectory in
a few months' time.

00o

The *“Curse Tablet” recently discovered at Red Hill is one
of the most important Roman discoveries in this area for many
years and we are glad to be able to reproduce Professor Turner's
authoritative report on it.
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DEMOLITIONS IN LOUGHBOROUGH & D ISTRICT
AND REPLACEMNT BUILDINGS .

The task of making some record of the removal of buildings
in the area becomes increasingly difficult because of the scale
of the planning schemes in the 1960s. Readers were warned in
Bulletin No.5 that the record is of the chief items only and is
not complete — the warning applies again this time. So swift are
the modern processes of demolition that it gives a sense of shodc
to watch giant timbers and stone wells that bhave stood for any-
thing up to seven centuries destroyed in as many seconds.

This account can begin with some further reference to items
that occurred in last year‘s list. The same reference numbers are
employed as in that list and then the totally fresh items follow
in continued number sequence.

No.65. TH& LIONS HAVE RA-APPEAREDY This news will afford some
gratification but they are no longer in Loughborough.
These old terra—cotta animals now grace the forecourt of
JUORN COURT on the main road in that village.

No.66  THE R&D LION SIT&y BIGGIN STR4EZT. The last fragment of
this was demolished on 1Qth and 1lth June, 1963. Removal
of plaster from the surviving fireplace revealed the inter—
esting fact that the red brick arch voussoirs terminated
with a few even earlier sandstone voussoirs. These in
their turn rested upon stone pillars. The righthand one
when facing the fireplace (that is the observer's right-
hand side) was composed of an extremely heavy block of
stone nearly 3% feet high and carved at the f oot into a
projecting base. One could but wonder if it was a portion
of cross shaft. The wooden timbers included one which was
carved to corbel out at the first ceiling level and again
nearer the bedroom ceiling - a truly magnificent piece of
carpentry in a single piece. In view of the ancient nature
of the fireplace it may be asked whether this was the orig-
inal building that gave the name to the street. ‘“Le
Bygnninge" simply means “The Building" and the word still
occurs almost unchanged in the Scandinavian languages.

No.67 CLARXS'S DYSWORKS,IIC., 8VONSHIRE S UARZ. The cleared
site is now fully occupied by a modern Supermarket and
other shops. The architecture is the flat and featur eless
modern style.

No.68 GEO.HILLS ITD., OLD CATTLS 4AR{ET ARSA. The same remarks
apply as to No.67. In both cases old fragments of stone
walling remain behind the new buildings. The rear ele-—
vations amd end gables are almost windowless and most
depressing. This generation has lost all sense of adding
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art and beauty to utility. If this is what is meant by
the current catchward “functional” , may the nation be
saved from it.

G. STUBBS SHOP,&TC.,DaVONSHIRE SJUARE. The replacement
building on this site is a large dry-~cleaning establish-
ment of Sketchley Dyeworks (Hinckley) and a television
sales shop. The result is rather more pleasing to the
eye but the facing materials employed are not likely to
bave a long life.

o0o

The following are fresh cases which bhave arisen in later

1962 to the end of June, 1963.

No .82

Ilo .83

Bedford Square - Queen's Park Entrance and on bto Forest
Road near fmanuel Church. First a few small cottages
bave been demolished at the side of the Park entrance.

A tree screen now improves this entrance. The builldings
associated with %he cottages were the former St. Mary's
Day School of which no trace remains. It had been a
printer's stores for a time. One much older cottage
(long held by Newtons, Ghe Chimney Sweeps) still remains
but no doubt it also will follow the rest. At the Park
Road junction a large detached residence, formerly oc-
cupied by A.&.Shepherd, the well-known builder and
decorator, has been totally demolished to mske room

for a new HMethodist Church. Ibs only note-worthy feature
was the extremely vast cellar which at the time this note
was made still gapes open to the sky, quite unprotected.
Almost opposite, alongside smmanuel Church, the neat and
pleasant residence called “The Cottage™, long occupied
by lir . Potter the saddler, has been similarly demolished
to make room for some new houses. In both these cases
the existing mature trees are to be left unfelled.

This number is used merely to embrace a tremendous series
of trenches and of street re-makings that took place in the
central area of the town in October, 1962. 3Shakespeare
Street, Salmon Street, Dead Lane, John 3Street, Fennel
Street, the boulevard round the Parish Church, Rectory
Road, Church Gate, Sparrow Hill and Pinfold Gate all
suffered extensive disturbance. Very early sewers were
broken into. Several ancient stonewall foundations were
encountered especially in Fennel Street, at the Church
Gates and on Sparrow Hill. Ox bones were found in Dead
Lane, human bones near the School in Shakespeare Streeb,
bricks nearly everywhere, pottery of many periods (ome
fire encrusted piece seemed to be Roman), two claypipe
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factory sites yielded abundance of broken stems and bowls,
and finally the entire area was strewn with multi-coloured
sand from the stretch that runs right across this side of
the town. Some pockets of sand were very deep: they end
as abruptly as they are encountered, and present problems
to builders. After the insertion of new drains anl ser-
vices, new roads appeared and an entire bus station with
flagged platforms appeared quickly despite a long inter-
ruption by the intense frosts of winter 1962-63. 1o
doubt the Bus Station will shortly come into use but at
the moment there is no vestige of shelter anywhere on

the several acres involved. At the end of the boulevard
by the church, at its Church Gate junction, two great
piles of stone were encountered and they appeared to be
used for blocking up ecarlier sewers or tunnels. Amid
this welter of change, it is occasion for surprise to
recall that on the left hand of Fennel Street when enter-
ing from Church Gate the late C.S.Russell used to have a
tree-surrounded btennis court, unusually pleasantly placed,
and that it faced his sweet works and house which are at
present totally occupied by a Club. Finally this omni-
bus entry should record that where Shakespeare Street
nerges into Salmon Street the excavators encountered and
left exposed for some weeks the entire base of a vanished
heavily tiubered house. Almost certainly the cut off
bases related to crucks long ago cub down.

No.84 Two large blocks of flats for older people bave now been
erected at the 0ld Parsonage House site. A builder’s
employee reported to us that Concrete Tiles used on the
first finished block weighed 17 tons.

No.85 OLD PARSONAGE HOUSE, RECTORY 10AD,etc. In November,l962
extensive demolitions occurred and the Victorian portion
is now gone. Other outbuildings bave &lso been pulled
dowvn. The semi-circular stone entrance porch, although
reputed 19th century, included exceptionally good stone
pillars of one piece while the circular stone roof was
bolted Gogether by blacksmith made continuous wrought
iron strip. The stone built coalhouse waich jutted out
on the west front was demolished either in error or by
hooligens. It proved to be very thick and was ashlar
faced with rubble core being continuous with the main
buildings. It could well be that this was the way into
the vanished early cellars mentioned in the 1605 terrier.
oupreme in interest were two points. (a) The three rows
of stone base pillars beneath the south front lounge.
When exposed these were seen to be parallel with each
other but not with the outer walls. They ran somewhat
on the slant in the direction of the side of the middle
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kitchen. ‘The conbractor conlirmed they long ante—dated
the Victorian building. In the same position the large
stone base of a former chimney breast was fully exposed
standing well in front of the later fireplace. A continu-
ation stone wall jutted out from the stone wall at the end
of this lounge indicating that a building also encased
these rows of pillars. The stone wall unfortunately soon
succumbed to the excavator - it was exceptionally old,
showed old doors and a window blocked up and much brick
patching. (b) The other great point of interest was the
slightly stilted round arch composed of stone voussoirs
vithout keystone ebove the three arched screen. Hooligans
intervened here and knocked out all its internal rubble
f£illing. It then stood revealed as an imposing arch for

a window or maybe doorway in some upsbairs gallery. Its
likeness to Saxon work is pronounced but this type of arch
might get repeated at any time. One thing must certainly
be disposed of. Ilany have said it was merely inserted o
strengthen the wall but there was no major weight above
ittto carry or strengbhen. <hat theory will not hold
wabter .

In view of assertions that are directed at the supposed
jerry-builders of the Victorian era, it may be mentioned
that the cavity curve in the second main lounge (left of
the entrance hall vhen coming under the pillared portico)
proved to be very little cavity indeed backed by three
feet of solid brickwor!t packing. A steel hawser atbtached
to this and at the other end to a powerful tractor failed
even to shake this wall but lifted the forewheels of the
tractor from the ground. With workmen sitting on front
to bold it down it fared no better at a second pull bubt
reared up throwing off the workers. uwhen the tractors
pulled a piece out finally it fell without cracking a

mor tar joint. No jerry-building herei After much damage
to the portions intended for preservation, the authorities
barbed-wired it off - a case of locking the stable doors
when the nag had fledl

Nos. 82 and 84 Nottinghem Road. These were two simple
little cottages next to the Clarence Inn. They were demol-
ished 7th HNovember, 1962. There was a step down on enbter-
ing these cottages and it is remembered that forty years

ago in a thunderstorm rainwater flowed full bore down the
inner step and out at the back. All the cottages where
Towle's Nottingham Road Factory now is were built in similar
fashion. All were nineteenth century.
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STONS YARD, CHURCH GATw. At the end of this yard as the
Bus Station was being made the road firm encountered more
than a dozen blocks of masoned granite. They were like
doorstep slabs, 2'0" to 2!'6" long x 12" wide x 8% deep .
Surprising that so many occurred in a small area. Were
they related anyway to the name of the yard across the
end of wbich they were found - Stone Yard?

BIGGIN STRAEAT-CHURCHGATZ CURN&R. This faces the old Red
Lion Site. Two shops were pulled down here early in June
1963. Once again a greab cellarage was opened up. A few
timbers in the first were very old but they ran through
from the old-establish ed butcher's shop on the carner of
Decad Lene and the complete block may have been an [
shaped house originally. The foundations of all walls
were stone, except on the many times altered shop front
portion. The butcher’s shop is also to go shortly. This
butcher’s shop is No.2 Church Gate. The two shops pulled
down were not numbered bubt the next up the street are Nos.
6 and 6A. Numbering in Churchgate is “gappy" and some
buildings al the rear may carry numbers in the seguence.
There are many numbers with "A% aifixed.

S0 then, nothing very startling emerges from this year'ts
Loughborough demolitions although those cited contain
evidence of the long continuity of the use of the sites.
Mlany other small cottage properties about the central
portions of the btown have gone in the twelve months but

no particular purpose is served by detailing all separate-

ly.

Turning now to the surrounding villages the items to
record are varied and many. Only the more important are
recorded below .

SUTTON BONINGTON. Between the Smithy and the village on
the south side of the main strest and facing St. wichaelts
Church three old cottages had long stood derelict. They
were an intensely interesting group with features hidden
beneath stucco. Long thought to be post-frame and one
gable end away from the street very fine indeed, on detail-
ed examination they appeared to embrace four pairs of
crucks sat on stone stilts some 2 feet above the ground .
The remaining fragments were severely cut about. In every
case the fireplaces were simple but on either side a very
shallow cupboard was set divided by a wooden shelf. One
kitchen floor was laid with large pebbles.
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SUITON BONTIGTON. COTTAGSS N&AR THA ~£ING?S HAAD INNT

(At present called The Polka Dot). Just before reach-
ing this inn when coming from Normanton direction ware
two cotbtages of differing periods bubt so arranged as to
form an "I shaped block. One cotbtage faced the street,
the gable end of its companion fronted the street. The
first mentioned was around 150 years old and came down

in a day. The scecond proved to be tied into a further
cottage and could not be pulled down without doing
structural damage. This portion was much older - the
builder considered over 300 years. The gaunt skeleton

of this cottage, therefore, has stood open to the weather
since October, 1962. It was post-frame type but what was
the origin of a great free-standing timber (not tied to
anything but just along the chimney flue?). It did notb
seem to serve any structural purpose in the present dwel-
lings so may mark an even earlier building. It is a mercy
in such a position that it has never caught on fire.

TIORPZ ACRZ. Page 14 of Bulletin Wo.5 refers to an old
farmhouse and barns here on the main street with a small
cottage which is still occupied. The barn can now be
examined and it contains handsome pairs of crucks - crude,
unpainted and more squarish in section than half round.
Thies barn abuts the farmhouse. The space between the

pairs is 21'0* and between each pair of forks 180"

(foot-paced). Not quite the standard pattern this but
one of the finest survivals in the county with all the
other ancient associated roofs Gimberings and stone walls
with some brickwork, also internal stone partitions of
gsome thickness. The pair nearest the farmhouse seem to
go direct into the ground. The pair furthest away bhas
one fork standing on a single block of thin stone. Ibts
companion fork unf artunately has been cut off at a cross
principal around 6 feet up. The farmhouse has old work,
some post-framing, and just a slight chance that a pro-
tuberance from the kitchen wall is a foot of a cruck.

iie could only view through the window. The occupied
cottage in the end of the gable furthest from the road
almost certainly has a cruck. There is much old stone-
work, much brick casing, some post-frame Gimbering, ebc.,
in this cotbtage. Demolition of all is expected very soon.

THORPA ACR&. OLD HOUSES NsAR PLOUGH INN. At the end of

the main strest alongside the Dishley foobway's beginning
is a quaint old farmhouse. Its gable end furthest from
the inn shows beneath much tree growth a great curving
timber that has too much curve to be part of post-frame
construction. It must be guessed to be a portion of cruck.
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Brick casing above may hide much . Below, inside the sup-
posed cruck, the original mud-with-pebble wall remains.
Other timbers show where the house faces down the main
street. This, so far as can be ascertained, is in no
immediate danger. Not so three cottages on the other
side of the Plough Inn (i.es. going towards Knightthorpe
Hall). One is empty — a horror smothered in corrugated
iron sheets over windows and with bthe thateh nearly blown
away. Through a gap in it can bs seen a cruck in the
party wall of the next cottage and maybe a further timber
at the third one indicates a squaring out timber added to
gnother pair of crucks. This group may be demolish ad any -
ime.

No.92 XNIGHTHORPZ LOST VILLAGZ. This should not really figure
in twentGie cenvury demolition records but a naw motor
Toad widening has cut across the former house plots -
houses thomselves demolished maybe four centuries ago.
The portions left include a good example of the old
earthen banks which often were made to surround the built -
up areas of early villages. The same road has afiected
Knighthorpe Pinfold.

No.93 WHITE HORSE COTTAGSE,SHAPSHED. The Sociebty was asiked to
look at this on the verge of White Horse ijood on the main
road near Blackbrook Windmill. It has lost its roof tilos
and all roof timbers together with all window frames. A
strange mixture of stone walls and brick walls with sundry
farm steadings behind, there is a slight chance that it
way even yet be restored. The restorad Blackbrook iill
inspires many imitators. i, could not ascertain the age
of this cottege and architecturally it did not merit much
attention. All its rooms ware very low. OQur visit was
made in June, 1953.

No.94 STORDON GRANGE, O3GATHORPE. This is the county's finest
monastic moated grange still retaining water in all ditches
and a genuinely old building on the % acre platform in-
side them. Visiting here June 1963 revealed that one
wing bas already been demolished by & new occupier. He
thinks the process may go no further. The house bas
nany rooms, is obviously of many periods, includes a
Tudor stone fireplace (beneath coats of paint) and a
stone overmentel above another totally covered over fire-
place. The floor levels upstairs are variable. Floors
are three inch thick plaster and as many bhave only one
main cross beam for support they spring when walkaed over.
There are narrow servants' stairs and a quaint (but prob-
ably not old) main staircase where every stair tips to-
vards the exterior wall and the stair rail and a ‘‘cubby
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hole" under the steirs are ornamented by what seem to be
balusters upon first acquaintance but which on second look
are merely flat %" thick board cut out in shapes. There
is a further usable area under the roof with plastered
floofs. One great roof beam (a main support) is cutb
through leaving half inch thickness merely to take another
cross becam. It is a risky bit of carpentry. A giant stone
chimney breast remains. The demolished portion had large
stone quoined corners. One dowmstairs room is floored
with unusual hexagonal Giles. A cute feature is oak hand-
grips on the bedroom doors to assist in avoiding falls
down sudden steps into the bedrooms. ilost rooms are unduly
small, and most are low but cupboards abound everywherc.
Even on 2 second great stone chimney flue (very large

and square) running centrally through the house, at its
bend on an upper floor a shallow shelved cupboard with
outer door has been cut at a sloping angle. There are
great oak clothes pegs. Finally, the great discovery was
tha best set of carpenters coastruction numbers on the
beams of a bedroom. The Romen figures employed are “V
cut, 1%* bigh, and the cut in about ¥4* deep. A piece of
fallen plaster that had covered them retained the impres-
sion in raised form splendidly. e noted the down beanm
XXIIIT keyed to its cross neighbour XXIIII, XX keyed to
its down member XX at a lower level, and others. (Thanks
are expressed to our members lMessrs Richards and Danvers
and Yo ilrs. Danvers for their uncowplaining sufference of
dust and murk on this occasion). For the interested, the
measurements on outside banks of the moat were very ap-
proximately 254'0" x 228'0" but the internal platform
after allowing for the extremely wide moat all round and
57'0"% from bank to bank, was but 114'0‘x 140'0". Very
0ld culverbing carries the moat water. The moat is
bridged, with little brick parapets on the bridge. A
small portion of moat against the bridge is partially
filled in. It is hoped the demolition alreoady recorded
above is indeed to be the limit of it for this site is a
county treasure and all too little known.

MTASHAM RSCTCRY ON wAIN ROAD, II¥ FRONT OF MSASHAM CHURCH.
This is well out of our customary territory but may not
get recorded elsewhere. A gaunt 18th century Rectory
without rear ground and built of WILKLS giant bricks
known locally as “‘gobs'. Its removal opens up the view
of an interesting church. If any member of Loughborough
Society motors by please bring home a ‘gob* for our local
brick collection. The ideca behind these huge bricks was
to avoid tax which was per thousand bricks and not on
area of buildings involved.
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No.95 TIONG WHATTON. COTTAGSS NEZAR FALCON INN. #Mr.B.C.J.Williams
asks for a record to be included that last year these were
pulled down and on demolition proved to be cruck construct-
100 .«

No.96 MOUNTSORRALe. Cobttages on Loughborough Road between St.
Peter's church and The Green. The demolitions reported
on p.l4 of Bullebtin No.5 have continued much further leav-
ing great gaps between the Church and The Green. The
ancient retaining wall is now seen to curve further and
further round the basz of the hill and though stone built
still it becomes successively less impressive and is “gapy,
very different from the first revealed high, bold portion.

This concludes what some members may feel to be a rather
tedious account of demolitions and replacement buildings. The
researcher never knows what even seanty recording of this nature
may become a valuable guidance on the object that is being ezam-
ined. It may save in far distant future some wrong conclusions.
It is obvious that a further twelve months may take the numbered

items up to and beyond the “century®.

GA0. He GRAEN.

000

THS AMATSUR HISTORIAN is now published quarterly by the National
Council of pocial Service, 26 Bedford Square, London, W.C.l. at
15/- per annum (including postage). A single copy costs 3/64.
plus 4d. postage. This publication is an invaluable help to

the local historian. Its articles decal, in the main, with methods
of rescarch, sources of historical information and provide back-
ground material for further study. Book reviews and notes on
local publicabions are important feabtures.
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A ROMAN CURSHE TABLST FROM NOTT INGHAMSH IR

Early in 1961 Mr. Roger Wilson of Thrumpton entrusted me
with a dirty little piece of brownish mebal bearing faint and
vague lines of inscription on either side. This he had dis-
covered on Red Hill, the site of a Roman_ settlement, during one
of his many rescarch visits to the site 1, I forwarded Roger's
find to the British Museum which after a short time informed me

that they bad sent it to Durham University as it was beyond their
powers to translate it. From Durbam, with little more light shed
on it, the mystery picce came soubth again to Professor £.G.Turner
then Director of tge Institute of Classical Studies at the Uni-
versity of London <. After months of study, enlarged photographs
and additional examination by exparts at Cembridge, Professor
Turner bas managed to decipher most of the inscription (examin-
ation continues for certain geps remain). The article below
written by Professor Turner as a result of this research (also
being published in the Journsl of Roman Studies), although per-
haps a little deep in places for the laymen, should be regarded

as one of the major arfiicles and finds our Bulletin has yet
published.

Diagrams and photographs have been sent to me for publica-
tion but since the photographs would reveal on publication merely
meaningless grey shapes the diagrams are used for convenience of
seeing the ingcriptions.

B.C.J. Willianms.

l. BSee publications of his material in Bulletins No.4 and 5
and note on this tablet in Bulletin No.4, p.l6.

2. Now Department of Greek, University College, London.

o0o

This tablet was found on 10th December, 1960, by iir. Roger
Wilson of Thrumpton, Notts,,after ploughing bhad taken place on
the surface of the lower slope of Red Hill in the parish of Rat-

cliffe-on-Soar, Nottinghamshire. Roman pottery, bone counters

and other objects have been found on Red Hill, which appears to

be a Roman site. It is at the junction of the rivers Trent and
Soar (where also Nottinghamshire and Leicestershire meet)l. The
tablet was Eolded roughly into three when found. The material,
discoloureds by corrosion and of a browny copper colour, proved

on analysis3 to be essenbially lead (in an impure state). Its max.
measurements are 8.4 cm. in height, 5.7 cm.in width. Both sides
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have been lightly incisad, perhaps with a needle4, with Latin
cursive writing. The han& is regularly formed and clsar and
shows skill on the part of the scribe. To judge from parallels
from fgypt, it should be assigned to the end of the sccond oxr

the early part of the third coentury after Christ. For the earliesr
limit af the receipt P.Lond. 730 (plate in deriture Latine 26) of
A.D.167; and for the later, P.Oxy.VIII IIT4, a declaration of
inheritance of A.D.237 (plate ibid. pl.7). Both of thess,how—
ever, show a slope to the right, whereas in Fhis tablet the

slope is to the left in the older manner. Among texts found in
Britain the hand is not unlike that of the Kelvedon tablet and

the Chew Stoke tablet (JRS 46 (1956)pp-.115 ff.) The letbter g

is made like a left-facing brace, bterminel r is low in the line
and sprawling, especially when ligatured with uj; the horizontal
bar of t Gends to slepe steeply up to the right, and in ligabures
with @ and i almost mo pari of the horizontal cross-bar precedes
the vertical.

This tablet brings up to 4 the number of curse texts found
in Ro Britain which invoke penalties against thieves of prop-
erty?. The obhers are:-

1. Bath, found in the hot springs Z& VII p.278 No.827;
Audollent, Defix,lNo.lO4.

2. Lydney Park, Gloucestershire, CIL VII 140 ILS 4730,
Audollent Ho.l0G.

3. Kelvedon, gssex, Jix3 48 (1958) p.150.

The formula involved in the present tablet is an uncommon
one, not only in Roman 2ritain, but throughout the whole Roman
world, as far as I can form an opinion. Cash (denarii) belong-
ing to 2 named person (Bl, 2) has becn stolen and the thief,
whose name and sex are of course not known, is gsented to
Jupiter optimus maximus. The god is to work on parts of the
thief's body (specified in a comprehensive catalogue), force
bim to repay, end is thereby to enjoy a tithe of the sum re-
covered. The curse is, therefore, in a sense a prayer for
justice addressed to a deity whose task is to punish the of-
fendeg and to restore his property to the petitioner. No.2
above®was perhaps deposited in the shrine of Nodens, and it is
just possible that our Lablali was deposited in a shrine of
Jupitier optimus maximus, which would then have to be sought at
Red Hill, There is, howevzi, no necessibty for this hypothasis.
The tablet could have beon deposited elsewhere. The important
part of the text was protuected from prying eyes and counter-
magic by folding on the ins%de the name of bthe deity and the
operative part of the curse’/, ;just as in No.l, protection was
given by writing the words retrograde.
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This curse is not strieily a defixios, for the ward defigo
is not used, the object of it cannot be bound by bkis name and the
deity is not obligated by the formula. Unique features in this
text are the choice of the word dono instead of defiso and its
use in the passive instead of 1sT person active indicative. Do,
boweger, is found (following tradogin & series of defixiones Tom
RomeZ. lloreover; the deity invoked is not one of bthe inferi.
curses on thieves are often addressad to Bon—underworla gods -
witness the other three British examplesl « The selection of

Jupiter optimus maximus is, however, unique. Possibly it might
suggest a Roman gedicator. But the addition of the word *deo?
is against thisl<.

o0o

1. Informatior from ur. B.C.J. Williems (Zxcavations Adviser
of the Loughborough and District Archasological Jociety),
who kindly gave permission for publication in the Journal.

2. Cleening, undertaten several times (last of all through the
kindness of lir. H.H.{. Hodges of the Imstitute of Archacol-
ogy of London University), is not permanent in its cffects.
%gedplate was Gaken by lir . Hitchcock of University College,

ndon .

3. Thanks are due to Professor G.J. Hughes and fir. Robin Clarlc
of University College, London,for analysing a samplec.

4. of. A. Audollent, Mdlanges Torga (1933) p.31 ff.

5+ The lcad plate from the amphitheatre of Caerleon, interpreted
by Collingwood (Archasologia 78(1928) p.158 no.l0), as per-
haps @ curse on a Ghiet Dbas been shown by R. cSgger, ROm antike
und fruhss Christentum p+28l to be a normal curse against a
compeGitor iIn Ghe arcna.

The essential bibliography is given in A. Audollentis great
Collection, Defixionum Tabellac (Paris 1904). 4dd:~

%. l]gesn:'u:erc,1 eV.Phlbo 20, pp.s-Bg. h 9 (1930) i1g
X. Preisendanz, Archiv 0~ Papyrusforschung 0) pp.ll
ff.; 11 (1933) 153 IT.

Some isolabted publica’. .. since then:—

W+ Sberwood ¥ox, The i iopkin's Tabellac: A. J. Phil.
xxxiil (1912), supplem..t volume.

Various texts from Roman Germany are republished by R. dggor,
RVm antike und fruhes Christsntum, esp. pp.79 ff., 272 ff.




8.
Qe

10.

11.

12.

13.

o B oo

cf. also JeMeR. Cormack, A Tabella Defixionss in the Wuseum of
the University of Reading, England, HIR xliv (1951), pp.25 ff.
Jﬁrggn Trumpf, Fluchtafel und Rachepuppe Ath. witt. 73 (1958)
Pp. 4ff-

Its whereabouts is now unknown, and this guess cannot now be sub-
stantiated by information derived from the tablet itself. No.l
was found in the Hot Springs of Aquae Sulis, and springs were a
favourite place in which to deposit. Cf. F. Haverfield, VCH
Somerset 1 p. 282,3.

The Kelvedon tablet is similar. Bub oould it have had a more
specific address on its other side?

See Avdollent, Defixionum Tabellae p. xxxii, and esp. xxxvii.

W. Sherwood Fox, A.J. FLil. XXXIIT Supplement 129 (1912), WNo.l,
c.g. 1. 9 (¢uare ha)nc wictimam tibi trad (0; and 1.17 and fre-
quently, do tibi cap(ut) Ploti Anoniae. The use of do in the
execracion from Caerleon (above n.5) is different: a piece of
the cursed person's clothing is being given to Nemesis.

No.l presumably to 3ulis iinerva; Ho.2 to NHodens, Ho. 3 to
Mercurius and Virtus.

There is a very doubtful mention, not invocation of Zels in
Audollent No. 7,12.

For the addition of the prefix deco cf. Ho.2 devo Hodenti, where
devo is no doubt rightly interpreted as for deivo or divo, notb

as devoveo.

I should like to thenk I.A. Richmond, R.P. firight and &d.w.Handlay
for suggestions.
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INTERPRATATION (OF THE SCRIPT

donatur deo Iouil
optimo maximo ub

Fold e.xigat er mentem par

memoriam per intus

per intestinum per cor
(p) er medullas per uenas
Fold Q?:.:(.).(.......)..a..s'(
(ee)l (.)1;..§i mascel si
femina qui .o wis
Hyolaunit riog Caqi
Digni ut in corporec

suo in breui temp(or) e
pariab .Donatur

deo YY decima pars

eius pecuniae quam

N oy F W FHE w0 N o Fow D

(s0) luerit
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42 ut : the upward rising oblique of u cubts across the vert-
ical of t. et cannot be read.

43 oxigat : top and foot only of g; next letter, if a, has
an umisually long left hond oblique doscender; the cross
bar of t rises obliquely (but of. t of inuolauit, Bl).
The readings given are no more than possible interprete~
tions of the scratches.

A4 The reading intus is certain.

Bl Between Ca and i, probably, nob certainly, a vertical,
and a high shellow curve, i.e. Ca()i, Cani, or Caui are
possible readings. Bubt both these marks ‘may be acécidental

B5 ss with bar through, followed by two letters hesitantly
read as Yy i.e. = suprascripto.

B7 (so)luerit, Otto Skutsch. A sloping right band curve is
taked'to be left hand member of u, ligatured to the follo
ing e. Before that, low in the line, tip of a descender
read as 1l.

oQo

MODARN TRANSLATION OF THS TABLAT

' To the god Jupiter best and greabtest there is given that he
may hound... through bis mind, through bhis memory, his inner
parts (?), bis intestines, his heart, bis marrow, his veins...
whoever it was, whether man or woman who stole away the denari
of Canius (?) Dignus that in his own person in a short time he
may balance the account. Thore is given to the god above
nemed a tenth part of the money when he has (repaid it?) !

000

Al Intus: used as a noun - uiscera? Hardly + int ellect us.
For memoria in dsfixiones, of . Audollent No.300 desumabux
ut facias illum siné sensum (mic) sine memoria sine ribtu
gine medulla sit. (of. Audollent index p.487). A lead
plate found in Bregenz in 1930 raquires: eripias smlu-
tem cor talos re(nos) enum genitalia, R. sSgger, Rom antike
und frifhes Christentum, pp.285-6.

A8 mascel: the same word is used in the Xelvedon tablet,
cf. JRS 1958, p. 150 n.8.
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B3

B4

B5

s o

inuelauit: the same verb in the tablet from Bath,in Audollent
No. 122, 7. (from Spain) and in the ZLelvedon tabiet, l.1l.

I have not found a parallel for the form of abbreviation of
denarii, in which the normel sign is followed by part of
the termination. If what follows rios is a name, it may
be read as prasnomen Caij; or Caui, or Cani, nomina (for
Caul ef. CIL VII 1334, 21, London) with Digni (Cemidieni
cannot be rcac) as cognomen (for the latbter cf. CIL VII
TI25T; JRS 1937 p.2:9): or as a simple cognomen, Canidigni.

in breui tempore: cf. Joerome letters 75.1 quem in breui
tempore huc uenturum esse credebem.

pariat: perhaps read periet, from parie, in technical secuse,
for which the only example is Dige 40, 1, 4 (Ulpian) si ei
nummos prorogauit empbtor, cum ei pariaunerit.

For a parallel for this form of abbreviation = s(upra)s
(erip)to, Mr. 3.7i. Hendley refers me to the Ravenna sale
of A.D. 572 (B.i. add MS3.05412, Pal. Soce 1 2)«

Professor #.G.Turner,
ftela,FaB.A.
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IRANSCRIPTS OF JARLY DOCUMENTS

The last two issues of the Bulletin have given transcripts
of cerly Loughborough documents. This year another type of
document is presented. It is an agrecment regarding a corrody
for a Loughborough men and his wife. This type of document
shows the Abbeys and Monastic institutions in one of their
many roles -~ the role of welfare work for the aged. They
only undertook the work at a price which no doubt was ulti-
mately profitable to themselves. A corrody was a method where—

by people (usually elderly) could buy for z fixed sum the use
of accommodation at the institution together with regular
fixed arrangements for the supply of food, drink and clothes.
It may be presumed the corrody also covered the provision of
care in time of illness. The royal family scems to have had
the right to claim a corrody for its elderly servants and of-
ficials and in such cases the monastic institubions seem to
have accepted the task without demur. The document which
follows is a corrody arranged on a purcly private and personal
basis. It reveals that apparently this type of arrangement wes
a quite regular thing with Garendon Abbey. Further that a
very famous man in Loughborough annals -~ the town's bene-
factor Ralph Lemyngton had previously occupied the accom—
modation provided by this corrody. It is likely that the
abbott would be extremely pleased to taoke in a wealthy wool
merchant of Lomyngtonis standing.

The lump sum payment made when the agreement was signed by

Mr. and lMrs. Crosby was, for those times, the very high amount
of £40. They made further undertaking in regard to their goods
and chattels (with some reservations) becoming the property of
the abbey at decath. The continuance of the full supply of
small ale for the two even after the decath of one of them hard—

ly made for sobriety in the survivor! The document is not
transcribed in its entirety — the Latin formal beginning and
ending is omitted. The meat of the document is in its Anglish
portion.

The fate of the existing corrodians at the time of the
.Suppression was unpleasant. They all thought they had bought
peaceful security for their old age away from life's alarms and

Ehey found the vsry buildings even being demolished arounil them.

It is also rather saddening to record that in the partic-
ular case of a corrody given below the survivor had to takz a
cese to the Xing's Courts against the last Abbott of Garendon
(Thomas Syeston) for a breach of its conditions. Syeston often

occurs in the surviving records of local litigation although it
is not always certain the Abbobtt is involved as he also had a
son of the same name who was a humble husbandman at Xnightthorpe.
Geo .H.Green.
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This Indenture made the fyrst daye of Maye the yere of our
lorde god 2 thousand fyve hundreth and three and twentye the yere
of the reigne of our Sovraigne lorde Kyng Henry the eight after
the conquest of England the fytene bytwixt Thomas Sycsion Abbott
of the Monasterye of our blessed lady of Garradon and the Covent
of the same place of the one partie and John Crosbye late of
Loughborrowe in the County of Leicester lercer ond slizabeth his
wyfe of tho other ptie witnesseth
that the sayde Abbott and Covent and by one hole assent and con-
sent have gyven and grounted by these prsente far them aml their
successrs unto the sayde Jobn and dlizebeth to bhave and receyve
on2 Corrodye or livinge of and in the sayde ilanasterye for terme
of their lyves and the longer lyver of them in manr and forme
following that is to saye that the sayde Jobn and glizabeth shall
have for their Mension plece and lodging the house chambaers and
ketchin Gthat Mayster Raff lemyngton had by Indenture
Also to have wekely durying theyre lyves seven caste of Covent
breade and two cobbe loves otherwise called Browne loves to be
delyvered at the bakehouse to the sayde John and Wlizabeth or
ther svante in their names
And also to have Wekelye durying theyre sayde lyves seven galoms
of Covent ale oud twoe gallons of smale ale delyverd at the brue-
house And over this tho sayde Abbosh aud Covent graune by thesc
prsente unto the sayde John and £lizabeth to have and peercyve once
on the Daye or bwice the porcion and right of twoo iionke in ffyshe
and ffleshe accordyng as the tyme requrceth
And also to have yerly duryng their sayde lyves sixe loade of Wood
fellyed ond caried at the coste and charge of the s&yde Abbott and
Covent and their successours and fourc pounde of Tallowe candelle
as the Covent have
Ahd also the sayde Abbott and Covent have agreed amd graunte by
these prsente that the sayde Jobn and &lizabeth shall have yerly
durying their lyves thre kyne of their owne wyntered and somered
in lyke menr as the kyne of the Monasterye bene
And lykewyse to have one Swyne of one yere old of the sayde Abbott
and Covent fedd and fatted as their slaughter swyne bene
Also the sayde John and Elizabeth graunte and have agreod by these
prsente for them their executrs assignes that all suche houshold
stuff and cabttalls as they bring or cause to be brought of their
owne to the saide ionasbrye to remayne to the use and p'fitt of
the sayde lionasterye after the deceassis of the sayde John and
Elizabsth. Prvyded alway that the seide John and flizebeth shalbe
at their lybertie with their pisia and coyne to dyspose ybt at therr
pleasvr. Also a bed and all things therbto beclongyng with a counier
of Teynscott and a Cheebe with 21 suche stuff as is lockt in G-
sayde chzst and tbeir apparell aud Reyment be observd for their
Childes plie as more appersth in a byll of Indenbture betwixte the
sayde pliszs.
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Also the sayde John and @lizabeth bene agresd thot when it shell
Please god eyther of them to disicase the survivr to have and
pceave butt half the corrodie aforseide in ffyshe ffleshe brede
and ale and other the prmiscs before fraunted excepbe the two
brown loves and twoe gallons of small cle above rehorsed whiche
shall contynue bo the longer lyver this indenture notwithstand-
ing

For all whiche corrodie lyvyre graunte and agrements the sayde
John and Elizabeth shall paye to the abovenaymed Abbott and
Covent the daye of tho Snsealing of these Indentures fourtie
pounde of good and lawfull monye of gngland.

In wytnes whereof to the one ptie of this Indenture remaynyng
with the sayde Jobn Crosbye and &lizabeth the forseide Abbott
and Covent have sette their comon sgcale

And to the other ptyie of this Indenture remeynyng with the sayde
Abbott and Covent the fornamyed Jjohn Crosbye end Rlizabeth have
setbe their seales the daye ond yere above wrytten.

000

NOr8S: The original spelling has been followed except in a case
or two where to retain it would cause difficulty for the modern
reader. It will be nobiced that often “e' is employed instead

of “s“ to indicatie a plurel ending. Further, there is not much
consistency in spelling in the Indenture as at times the same
word gets spelt differenbly. Another common feature is the
leaving out an obvious letter e.g. psente to represent ‘‘presentsie.

From other sources it is possible to 2dd that the John
Crosby of ths indenture is the brother of Thomas Crosby, Rractor
of TLoughborough. Thomas was witness to 2 Loughborough will in
1512. 1n 1521 he was the supsrvisor of the Will of Ralph Lem-
ington and Ralph left him 205.04, a black gown and also 10 marks
per year for him %o sing obits to his memory. Thomas nade his
own will 3lst May, 1523 just after John's corrodie had been set—
tled. Thomas by his will gave lezacies to Garendon Abbey a= well
as to Gracedieu, Lengley and other religious houscs so thab massecs
night be said for his soul and for the souls of his relahbives.

He further made gifts to his Loughborough church and to two
guilds. Jobn Crosby, named in the corrodie, left a will which
his wife proved at Leicester in 1536 (thercby giving us the date
of John's death — hec had 13 years use of his corrodie) alizabeth
lived on some years more and hor will was proved at Leicester
loth Jenuary, 15&3~4 by Siv: Williom Fyshpulle who was a priest
of Loughborough. By this time the Suppression had been operative
for some years se we are left wondering how Elizabeth had Tfared
in regard to hex last few years when perbaps she needed the safe-
gies of a Corrodie most. IG can but be hoped all went well in

8r case.
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THE SOCIZPY'S LIBRARY-

Members may bo interested to hsar something about the
Society's Library, which, at the moment, comprises 35 publi-
cations, as follows:—

4 copies of "Transactions of the Thaoroton Society” (1948-
This is a Nottingham publication. 1951)
1l “Topographical Quarterly” (licy 1939).

The above were given by mr. Bing.

A copy of the *“Historical Loughborough® Supplement to the
“"Leicester lercury" issued in 1958, given by Miss. P. Walsh
of Stanford Hzall.

15 Copies of *'The Archacologicel Journal® (1944-1957 &
Supplemerts) and 15 copies of “The Journal of the British
Archaeological Association', given by ir. Nixon, formerly
of*Redroofs*, Nenpantan (1942-59). These are national pub-
lications, to which it is hoped to keep up the subscription,
thercby building up a valusble Roference Library.

These volumes, which are execellently illustrated, cover =
wide variety of subjects, and the book-case is open at avery
meebing, to give members the opportunity of looking at them.

Books are issued at the ond of the evening, a record being
kept of each book borrowed.

Mrse. He EiSher .
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LOCAL, _AUTHOR ITIZ3 (HISTORIC BUILDINGS) ACT 1962.

The Loughborough & District Archacological Society was one
of a number of volunbtary organisations in the County, with kin-
dred interests, which Gogether with the County Districts Councils
(Urban, Rural and Rorough) were represented at a meeting in Leic-
ester called by the County Council Records Committee on 9th July
19673 Gto consider the implementation of the Local Authorities
(Historic Buildings) Act 1962.

This Act supplements the Ancient lonuments Act 1913 ond
Gthe Town and Country Plamning Act 1947, by giving to County and
County District Councils the powar bto meke grants or loans to
owners oaf buildings of historic or srchitectursl interest for
Ghe repair and maintenance of such buildings, including gardens
attached thereto.

There alrecady exists a short list of Ancient lionuments in
the County under the 1913 Act and a longer list of buildings pro--
tected, absolutely or provisionally, under Section 30 of the Act
of 1947. For the purpose of the present Act, it is desirable to
compile a comprehensive list of all buildings worthy of preser-—
vaetion end the help of both volunbary and statubory bodics is
sought in this task.

It was suggested that in the first place a list of 60
buildings of prior importance should be compiled i.e. 3 far each
County District and 3 Counby Council properiies. The Locel Auth-—
orities were asked to send in suggestions for their own aresas bub
voluntery bodies might include buildings or sites worthy of pres—
ervation aaywhere in the (ouniv.

The County Counczii [ =ilccated a sum of 22000 for work
wiler the Acet for the curraont muv, bub it was pointed cubt that
tv /5 should be ressrded an 2 uekar Liant since no cnacifice pro-
4004 had yet been pui forwurd and i did not prazluic larger
gronis in the fubwe. Disiricy hsuthorities bave auite independ-

gulr powers of gremt zid.

The listing of buillines does nob necessarily involve any

impediate acticn and certainly nothing will be drue without con—
son§ of the owmaw, bubt owners will Lo informsd of the availabil-
ALy of belp in the presssvabisn of Lbeir prepecly. & prime aim
would be to see bhai no lisicd duilding fell inlio disrepair or

was demoldshed viltnoai. tos hpowledge of the Councy Ceuncil.
Finevelial eaid would naturally involve periodic inspsction and,

if appropriate aul dgsirable, linited public acc-ss. If con-
sultavion and an c¢ffer of contribubtion towards the cost of repairs
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and maintenance did not produce the desired result, a Building
Preservation Order and, if nccessary, a Compulsory Purchase Order
could be made by the County or District Council.

The new Act and the steps already being taken under it, there-
fore give promise of much more adequate preservation of buildings
of historic and architectural interest than we have had in the past
and should encourage local societies like our own in their vig-

ilance.
He Foe BING.
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SUGGESTIONS FOR USEFUL RSSZARCH BY “RANK AND FIL&"
M3iBIRS OF IOCAL ARCHABOLOGICAL
A e o 1) 0 U

"Wihat could T do?" is the question most frequently heard
from meumbers of this and other local crchaeological socicties.
The present issue of this Bulletin suggests several answers, as
indeed cach preceding issue also has done. The field of humdrum
and yet extremely rewarding things that can be attempted by al-
most any serious-minded member is well-nigh inexhaustible. Some
ere most simple and all can be found in a fow miles radius even
of Loughborough. If every member concentrated on one subject
only and recorded his results on index cards (6% x 4# size)
for depogit in the Society's records, a vast bulk of useful data
for the benefit of all would soon result . (Vorkers would, of
course, noturally keep on extra copy of their records for thoir
own use). Here then are a fow suggestions.

— —

External fittings of eighbteenth ond nineteenth century housecs.

Fanlights over doorways: Photographs. Note number of resi-
dence, give the street name, aad say wvbich side of the stroet
locating it by the point of entry i.e. “on the left when enter-
ing from the main Nobbtingham Road . If house is dated quote it .

Door surroundings including the steps. Sazme procedwr @ as above.

Boot scrapers — rarc items those today . - Ditto -
Letter boxes. - Ditto -
Knockers. - Ditto -

Old-fashioned external shutters to windows or any labteh fittings
remaining of same. Procedure as above.

(In 2ll cases where various matorisls may be used, state the
material - “stone”, ‘‘cast iron“, “Brass*, ctc.)

-
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Iraces of former Parish government .

Stocks — very rare now.

Village lock-ups — dwindling in number.
Pinfolds.

Windmills.

Dovezotes.

Court Houses - rarely found.

Lesser features of Parish Churches.

Carved faces on corbels and arch hood droppers, etc. These are
often apparently portraits in stone; some carry faint traces of
original colouring, some are grogesque (cartoon-like). Approx-
imate date of architecture on which they occur should be recorded
(remembering to note if face is in its original position or if it
shows signs of having been moved). Photos are very necessary for
all the lesser features - both this one and those that follow.
For the faces tele-lens are of tion needed to get the picture as
they can be placed high up the walls.

Tympanums (filling in block between porch arch and door head.
1ve descriptions of carvings — the stone used and any other
noticeable feature.

Fonts - already bave a large litsrature of their own but bthose
for Leicestershire are not adeguately recorded.

Piscinas (bthe drains used for sacramental purposes). Often of
archifectural worth — state the period of the architecture.

Aumbries - these are cupboards cut into the stonework of chancel
end side chapels. Nay still have a shelf (sometimes wood but
sometimas stone). Sometimes traces of former door fittings or
even a modern door. These aumbries ware also used for purposes
of the sacramental observances.

Sedilia - the stone seats for the officiating priests. Usually
in south wall of chancel. lMey be one, two or threc or more.
Again architectural period should be recorded.

Rood loft and roed loff stairs. This was the position between the

nave ard chancel where & crucifix was displayed. Often the stairs
remain but cut off from Lloor Leovel.

Hezioscopes (often caolled "Squints™). Short passege cut through
Ebancg plers Go afford view of the main altar from the pews in
the side chapels or aisles. Aznin somebimes possible to give

architectural period. Scuetimes two found in same church .
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Alabaster monuments. The inseriphions afford information and
dateés Should G& datailed din full. Size of monuments worth
Tecording.

Incis = _slaba. A chief source of knowledge of period costumes.
Agaln Ve inscription is the source for information.

Brassas - a further form of inscribed and dated memorial. Again
there is a large literature but Ieicestershire has not been fully
detailed.

Encavstic tiles(monastic). Maony churches have a few of these
ofvern brouglv 1n irom suppressed monnsteries. Rough sketches of
pattern are usefvrl. They bave been :leborately cabsl ogued for
Leiceatershire (Greenbill: fecicestoushire Archacological Socisty)
but there are added finds te be mado.

Wooden chestis, collecting texes, pulpits, church plate, bells are
Turthsr exomples of the diversity o possibiliities for the amatsur
recording things in a small region.

(Throughout church recording vwhereever possible architectural

period should be quoted: position in the building given — e.g.
south/north porch, tower, nave, south aisle, north aisle, chapel
%n soutbgnorth aisle, chancel, north/south transept: condition of
he ibem

This church list is suggestive bubt not exhoustive.

Vigihl

w

enrthvorks.

This is
recorias Are
region who

end sbade; whe pots whers hpe professionel passing bShicugh mey not
thinlk: Yo penzsrase; vho hears the local trazditions which afford

a mecsure of guidance; who kaows tne old names of such featurss;
and muoh more besides. The inbrodiction of aserial photography
has net repdered this locel form of rccording ab ground lewvel
unnecessary — it will be nuny, mAny joars belore the entirety

of the lands of Britain hav: beeu uintogrephed from the air by
the cfficial bodies at each ssason ord from every angle.

ore Aifficult field for th: amateur but simple
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Tha lccel workew woul” 1oed . >-nsult the simple classifi-
cation used in the Vietoriw Counly Fisbtories and by the archacol-
ogicel assecciations before ccbarkis~ upon listing an arvea. A few
formzs = ecrthworik are suzi.:bed o one of which might be regard-
ed as a geparalhe subject.
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Windmill mounds, wabtermill carthworks. (Often the mounds may
bave an carlier origin than their use for windmills. ‘Position
is often a guide for deciding what earthworks fall into these

groups) .

loats ~ smallish square or oblong sets of ditches. Record
whether at present with water or dry. ‘hether any obvious traces
of buildings on platform in the centre. Contour they are placed
on together with measurements, including depthb of ditches.

Large ditched arcas on hilltops (occasionally in other positions.
Varying patterns - square, oval, circular, rounded corners but
otherwisc rectangular, somebtimes more than one surround of
ditches. Notes should be made of position of any carthworks
outside the main ditched area. gSuch earthworks are relatable

to many periods aml purposes. Prehistoric to Civil War periods.
Castle defances (in which cose record any castle remainsg, pre-
histor%c camps, Danish camps, animal pounds for nomadic journey-
ing, etc. '

Ridge and furrow fields. Relatable to the period of manorial
agrar.an working. 5o many that to list seems somewhat unneces—
sary but like so mony features vanishing oxtremely rapidly.
The finest specimens (with furlong of strips scparsted by drop-
pings of soil in turning oxen ploughs on headlmds) should be
recorded in deteail giving parish wherein placed, widths and
lengths of o selection of the strips, sketich the section through
several ridge ond furrows measuring depth of furrow at its lowest
point, state locel soil type (cleoy, light ete), shape of strip
(i.es many care “S" shaped and not just straight lengths. Note
should be made whether arable or pasture land still predominates
in the parish. Size of field being recorded might be shown,
where known. Leicestershire still bas the finest exemples and
the time m2y come when a pcorish or even mm area might be pre—
iirveg in its entirety, the same way as ancient buildings are
sted.

Tumuli. Grave mounds and sighting tumps. Nobt 2ll these by any
mezns have been mapped in Leicestershire. (When locating such
mounds dlways discuss with local people to see if they are chance
heaps of recent origin). Neasure both for length, breadth and/
or circumference. Give greatest height zbove surrounding ground.
Also stabte contour and whether observaoble at a distance (i.ec« on
hill ridge).
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Man-cut banks without ditches. These occur most frequently and
often prove Go pe Ghe visible ground evidence of the parish or
county boundary. Give & beginning point and then state length
and section of the bank.

Linear ditches. There are more of these than reolised. Their
origin way be obscure. Ilake a section of them in their present
state. (Some are V" ghaped). They may, of course, be much
decper but silted up. This earthwork is not normally the custom-
ary fieldside ditch. They occur in fields, sometimes in parallel
sets, etc. They may be frogments of former village banking sur-
rounds (built-up arca) . usable with 2 stockade of posts zgainst
animal incursions.

This list should afford a field of interest far almost every
type of member of an archaeological society. It is only a select-
ion from amongsht the many visible features of the countryside that
remain available. Always obtain permission before going on pri-
vate property. Learn early the s imple system of giving 2%" to
the mile Ordpance Survey Map grid references — the Ordnance Survey
will apply a key card if requested. Too much detail is a good
fault. Index cards are cheap so use them plentifully. 1In case
of doubt why not submit the problem you have to the Loughborough
Archaeological Society's Committee, not that it claims to have
all the answers bubt it has access to many resources and experts.

Finally, bhowever, remember that a record unfiled is a record
lost, so please deposit one copy of your results after block let-
tering the following standard headings (always in same positions)
on your cards:

(NAME OF VILLAGE) (MATN SUBJECT:)
SOUTHTOWN » FONTS
(Sub-divisi on:)
GRID REFERENCE. Norman period .

In making the cards omit the portions in brackets but giv-
ing the information indicated. Use a separate card for every
item you record.

Well, good hunting as you get busy.
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BOOK RAVISWS

West, Jobn. Village Records. 1962. Macmillan » 208pps 30s.04 .«

There will be many members of the Loughborough Archaeolog-
ical Society who would find this new book on an old theme notb
mer2ly inbtoroshking but extreuely useful. It is a reference
book that should be kept handy. It covers with a fresh form of
presentation the field previously best covered by W.E.Tate's
Wphe Parish Chest™. It deals with the documents of village
history (the village used as the guinea pig is the Worcester-
shire village of Chaddesley Corbett) and it makes the subject
“ocome alive” by giving reproductions of the type of document
furnished by a village. The reproductions are fifteen in number
ranging from Saxon Charter to Turnpike Trust recards, and ad-
ditionally a transcription is provided wbere deemed needful.
The author has ranged even wider by incorporating what may be
described as the seldom considered archaeological survivals of
this village - effigies on the tombs, the sixbteenth century
houses and the monumental brasses.

He has extended the work of reference by showing in various
lists where printed materisl of a similar range can be fournd
elsewbere in England and Wales. It is indeed a guide on local
survey wark, a work of reference touching most counties, and
a source of pleasure to the eye every bt ime it is opened. For
such a book the price is remerkably modest for the times in
which we live. Rven the professional historian and lecturer
will £ind it helpful to themsleves and their students.

NOTT INGHAMSHIRE HISTCRICAL DOCUMENTS 1IN FACSIMILE.
Bdited by P. A. Kennedy, M.A. 1962. Nottinghamshire ILocal
History Council, 30 High Pavement, Nottingham. 7/64 «
(8s.8d. by posts.

One of the most useful small publications that bhas been
furnished for the local historian . Fifty reproductions of the
varied types of local surviving documents are given - the photo-
graphic process employed bhas been most successful. Where they
are in Latin the wording is extended from its abbreviated forms
and additionally an English translation is given. lMany quite
experienced workers will find this foolscéep sized booklet brings
them into contact with much useful material. Needless to say,
the facsimiles are all from the County of Nottingham. Perhaps
a similar one may be issued sometime with examples from Leic-
estershire.
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NOTT INGHAMSHTRE: A catalogue of the county library local gistory
collection. 19A1.. (County Library, County Hall, West Sridgford,
Nottingham. Pp.57. (Not priced).

A useful little catalogue by subjects and by places (with
authors in alphabetical order inside sach classified secbtion).
There cen hardly be too many of this type of reference works for
the local worker. Again the wish is expressed that shortly the
Leicestershire worker may be similarly equipped in regard to col-
lections in Leicestershire libraries. Such publications save the
researcher from the disappointment of finding, after tremendous
research and effort on a topic, that all was already written up
in existing publications.

RICKIAN, T.H. "An Aisled Barn at Rempstone" Transactions of the
THOROTON SO0CIEZETY of Nottinghamshire. 1962. Vol.66. Page 6 et seq.
This is the article of particular local interest especially
as members of the Loughborough Archaeological Soclefly have taken
a direct interest in this barn. The building was to be demolished
and before that event the author has contrived to detail carefully
this last surviving aisled barn in Nottinghamshire. A timber in
it carried the date 1604. It was imposing, being 58 feet long,
28 feet wide and, with a modern roof, 28 feet high to the ridge
peak. The same Thoroton Society volume contains other useful
articles including a useful sumwmary of "The Villagers Remember" by
Arthur Cossons, being written contributions deposited in Notting-
hamshire Records Office following a compebtition held in 1960 by
the Nottinghamshire Local History Council. It is with regret
that this review bhas to record the death of Lir. Cossons since ¢
his contribution was written. His work on Turnpike Roads will
long serve successive generations of local bhistorians who need
guidance on that period.

GHEETHAM, Francis. W. "Medieval Znglish Alabaster Carvings'
1962. City of Nottingham Art Galleries and luseums Committee,
The Castle, Nottingham. 5s.0d. plus postage

This is a superlatively good brochure on an obscure subject.
The alabasters referred to are in the Castle Museum and caa be
viewed there. Plates of many of them are provided. The source
of alabaster is discussed and the use made of the carvings
detailed. Much careful research by the author has revealed more
than hitherto known, including facts on the craftsmen, the trans-
port of the work, the home market and export trade in alabasters,
and the rise and decline of this local industry. The source of
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alabaster in ®ngland is chiefly Chellaston (Derbyshire) and
Tutbury (3taffordshire) so it is of interest to several local
societies. Had this book appeared half a cenbtury ago many
other alabaster carvings migbt have been retained in the area
that provided the basic material. As it is, one that formerly
lay in a Memoriel Sculptor's yard at Ashbya&e—la—Zouch has been
s0ld at Sotheby's and departed to an unknown destination.

SMITH, J.H. The Gordon's Mill Farming Club, 1758-1764,1962.
Aberdeen University Studies Number 145. per Oliver sand Boyd.
Ltd., Edinburgh. viii + 156. 30s.0d. nett.

This has a slight Loughborough interest in that the autbhor
was resident in the town for a number of years. The work is
based on the llinute Book of a fairly early Agricultural Tmprove-
ment Sociesy which was founded when many new ideas were astir in
farming circles. The book provides copious extracts from the
Minutes. The text includes a description of the Scottish Infield
and Outfield system and is useful for showing the resemblances
to and differences from the Open Field systems of iidland England
It defines also a few terms peculiar to Scotland. TLeicesbter-
shire had several of these early Agriculbursl Societies - in
particular the Jaltham-on-the Wolds one and one in the Queni-
borough area which embarked on running an experimental farm
around 1790 A.D. If their papers could be located it would be
a rewarding field for s ome member of the Loughborough Arch-
aeological Society (which ineludes hisbtory in its field) to
engage upon. Anyway, the book under review is a definite con-
tribution to agrarian history and as such of interest to the
very district that was the home of Robert Bakewell who founded
The Dishley Society for the more restricted agricultural aim
of breed improvements.

Hatfield and its People. Part Nine. Farming Yesterday and
Today. 1962. Published by Hatfield Branch of Workers® Educa-
tional Association c¢/o lirs. Barbara Hutton, 2 Vigors Croft
Hatfield Herts. 49 pp. lleps and illustrations. 2s.9d.posé free.

This pamphlet continues a long-sustained local history
issued in serial parts. It is reviewed here on three accounts:
(a) it is printed by the Loughborough printing house (Zcho Press
Ltd) which guarantees the printing layout leaves little to be
desired; (b) it refers to new agricultural implements being
bought from Ioughborough early in the 19th cenbury, and (c) it
illustrates how the work of small local groups can be built up
to aid the historian, geographer and archaeologist over wider
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fields. This group is to be congratulated on a very solid and
thorough accomplishment of its self-imposed task of studying the
agrarian history of its parish. Account books, maps, inventories
attached to wills, the local archives office, newspapers, local
families — all these and many others have been laid under tribute-
Field, farm and other place-names will enrich workers in that
field end even assist the archaeologists in fo llowing vwaves of
settlement. References are given to wages and prices and social
conditions. The reviewer is left with the impression that space
has contracted what could have been a much longer story of farm-
ing in one local area. For example, one would like to consider
more fully the implications of 19th and 20th cenbtury migrations
of farmers from Scotland to the English southlands. The pamph-
let makes interesting references to this and it would be inter-
esting to know how wide was the area thus affected.

LOYN, H.R. Anglo-Saxon England and the Norman Conquest. 1962.
Longman, Green and Co.Ltd. xii+ 422 pp. 30s.0d. (First volume
published in "A Social and fconomic History of Zngland™ General
Bditor: Asa Briggs).

The name of the Editor of this series is, in itself, al-
most a guarantee of a high standard wark, and the names asso-
ciated with him in this enterprise are equally well known.
Thiq ‘hggk nan ha whole-heartodly roocommonded to all students

from atever angle) ur vbLo Saxon and Normen periods. The
author has drawn together with great skill all available sources
and then performed a miracle of compression in presenting a
survey neabtly tucked into compertments and yet revealing an
understandable view of the whole. Dealing initially with the
nature of the settlement of varied tribes in Britain, he
expands the canvas to place such settlement in its fduropean
setting and tuen shows the forms of internationsl trade at that
early period. The internal trade inclusive of the coinage and
the state of early Saxon boroughs form the subject of the next
chapter. Chepter four handles agrarien history, the complex
problems sebt up by the manorial system, early laws and the
swiftly changing developments of the manor system prior to the
Conquest. Three further chepters turn to questions of Ringship
and noblllty;'the church, literature and arts; and sociological
aspectg, looking especially in this at the nature of '"The Con-
munity”. Chapber eight shows the addition of the Normen ele-
ment at the Conquest and a closing chapter, naturally, peers
1ntp an eleventh cenbtury #ngland by way of the Domesdey Book
looking at both agrarian change and urban developments.



- 33 ~

The astounding quality of this work is the balance it
achieves — introducing a2ll known ways of approach to the Saxon
civilisation in England (this term is used very deliberately by
this reviewer) and yet in no noticeable place allowing any as-
pect unduly to overweight the others. It will be long indeed
even with this period on which so much current work is being
done before this synthesis can be laid aside. Nor does the
author refuse to challenge, suggest, develop lines of enquiry
that appeal to his virile approach.

Inevitably Leicester City and the County of Leicestershire
figure in many places. With two Mercian capitels near and a
mint in the county there is much to comment upon but as with
Roman times, so often with Saxon, the Midland skire does nob
always receive its due. kir. Loyn has avoided similar treatment.
He utilises Leicester in the Domesday Book as an example of 27
manors in the County baving 134 city bouses attached to them.

He cites Leicestershire evidence of the Normans perpetuating

a servile status to supply themselves with manorial officers.
The many other references are found easily in the carefully
constructed index with which this book is furnished. The only
criticisms one noy pass are: (2) in view of the way that life

in the period revolved chiefly around agriculture the chapter

on it might have been given pre—eminence as Chepter 2 instead

of 4; (b) Here is no mention of Breedon although this may be

due to the fact that Saxon Art is not brought to the fore except
so far as it contributes to archaeological discoveries; and (23
& list of Saxor Zings and their dates would occasionally be use-
ful. The maps supplied in this work are well chosen and not
over—detaileg.

The further volumes of this enterprise will now be most
eagerly anticipabted.

Geo. He Green.
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THE SOCISTY'S ACTIVITI&S 1962-63

October 6th

November 3rd.

November 17th.

Dscember lst.

January 1l2th.

February 2nd.

March 2nd.
April 6th.
Mey 8th.

June lst.

July 1Oth.

September 1l4th.

Archaeology of an Industry - The Stocking
Trade. T.A. Walden, Director ILeicester
luseum and Art Gallery.

The Kings and queens of Wales. Lloyde Walters.
Helf Day Schocl in conjunction with the
Historical Association. Industrial Archae-
OJ.Ogy'o Meile ij, MeA. Tutor Bi!'mingham
University.

Dry Bones. 5. Thomas, ileA., Lecturer,
Lelcester University.

Recent Acquisitions to the Leicester Museum.

‘D.T.-D.Clarke, M.A., Keeper of Antiquities

Leicester luseunm.

Romen Cirencester. J. Wacher, M.A., Lecturer,
Leicester University.

A Medieval Town. C. Skellerne
Annual General [eebting.

Visit to Asfordby, Kirby Bellars, Frisby-on-
the Wreak. Led by B.C OJ.WilliamS.

Excursion to Launde Abbey led by liss McCann.

fxcursion Yo Repton and Stanton by Bridge
led by C.D.Wostenholum, M.Sc.

fxcursion to Southwell and Laxton, led by
G.H.Green and B.C.J. Williams.



Lante Addition - Book Review

The Greater Anglo-Saxon Churches by RB.A.Firher., Faher & Faber Ltd., 8 gns. 1963

kr.Fisher, who has already made a notably readable and very direct effort
in the field of pre-conquest architecture with his excellent 'Anglo-Saxon
Architecture and Sculpture, Faber 42/- 1959, has produced a much needed source
of information. This work gathers together for the first time on a county by
county comparative basis most of the notable known and little known churches of
this period - a considerabie and long needed achievement, since much of this
information is otherwise only obtainable from scattered guides, translations
and journals, many out of print and not easily accessible. Thiswork begins
with architectural outlines followed by detailed descriptions of the churches
region by region and county by county. The work is too big for detailed descri-
ption but one should point out that kr.Fisher goes to great length to quote
opinions and judgements on every building given by other experts both past and
present. In this way we have in effect not a one man's opinion but information
formed by many - not always in agreement. This would otherwise only be possible
by reading all these experts' works separately. Distribution maps are also
included.

Some critism can be levelled but should not outweigh this books worth.
The price will make us hope the Fublic Library will get a ccpy. Some of the
photo plates are poor for the price. In calling it "The Greater Anglo-Saxon
Churches" ir.Fisher has taken as his yardstick those churches having towers.
Thus Bradford-on-Avon and several other churches get no mention in any detail.

Leicestershire is very much the church mouse in the book. Having no chapter
of ite own, only two churches are mentioned in the lists at the back. ie.
Birstall and Leicester, St.llicholas. They are disposed of with a sentance
each. Breedon gets only e passing mention in the introduction since it has
no tower now (of Saxon date). I have not room here for all the omissions but
what about Tugby ? The lower portion of the tower is Saxon.

Rutland g:ts a single mention - i‘arket Overton which is dealt with well and at
length, Nottinghamshire is listed with six - Carlton in Lindrick, East Bridgfo:
Zverton, Plumtree, Sutton on Trent and Thoroton. Carlton in Lindrick receives
detailed treatment; the rest a sentance each in the lists,

Derbyshire our rich neighbour of this period, has Repton alone dealt with in
great detail., Ault Hucknell, liarston i‘ontgomery and Stanton-by-Sridge get a
sentance each,

The reader will learn much to his profit from this work. Personally
I thank kr.Fisher for leaving so much unsaid in the East kidlands since my
own survey for this area in steady preparation has been left ample scope.

B.C.d.Willarams.
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